Fungal Genetics and Biology 48 (2011) 35-48



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Fungal Genetics and Biology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yfgbi

Review

Compartmentalization and molecular traffic in secondary metabolism: A new understanding of established cellular processes

Ludmila V. Roze^a, Anindya Chanda^a, John E. Linz^{a,b,c,*}

^a Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI-48824, USA
^b National Food Safety and Toxicology Center, Michigan State University, MI-48824, USA

^c National Food Safety and Toxicology Center, Michigan State University, MI-48824, USA ^c Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Michigan State University, MI-48824, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 February 2010 Accepted 12 May 2010 Available online 16 May 2010

Keywords: Aspergillus parasiticus Aflatoxin biosynthesis Compartmentalization Protein traffic Aflatoxisomes

ABSTRACT

Great progress has been made in understanding the regulation of expression of genes involved in secondary metabolism. Less is known about the mechanisms that govern the spatial distribution of the enzymes, cofactors, and substrates that mediate catalysis of secondary metabolites within the cell. Filamentous fungi in the genus *Aspergillus* synthesize an array of secondary metabolites and provide useful systems to analyze the mechanisms that mediate the temporal and spatial regulation of secondary metabolism in eukaryotes. For example, aflatoxin biosynthesis in *Aspergillus parasiticus* has been studied intensively because this mycotoxin is highly toxic, mutagenic, and carcinogenic in humans and animals. Using aflatoxin synthesis to illustrate key concepts, this review focuses on the mechanisms by which sub-cellular compartmentalization and intra-cellular molecular traffic contribute to the initiation and completion of secondary metabolism within the cell. We discuss the recent discovery of aflatoxisomes, specialized trafficking vesicles that participate in the compartmentalization of aflatoxin synthesis and export of the toxin to the cell exterior; this work provides a new and clearer understanding of how cells integrate secondary metabolism into basic cellular metabolism via the intra-cellular trafficking machinery.

© 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 36					
	1.1. Secondary metabolism	. 36					
	1.2. The "molecular switch and temporal regulation	. 36					
	1.3. Spatial regulation and translocation	. 36					
	1.4. Overview	. 36					
2. Secondary metabolism is an integral part of cellular metabolism							
3.	3. Substrates for secondary metabolism are spatially distributed in the cell						
	3.1. Substrates for polyketide secondary metabolites	. 37					
	3.2. Substrates for amino acid-derived secondary metabolites	. 38					
4. Enzymes for secondary metabolism are compartmentalized within the cell							
	4.1. Plant secondary metabolites	. 38					
	4.1.1. Alkaloids	38					
	4.1.2. Flavonoids	39					
	4.1.3. Cannabinoids	39					
	4.2. Fungal secondary metabolites	. 39					
	4.2.1. Polyketides	39					
	4.2.2. β-Lactam antibiotics	40					
	4.2.3. Cyclosporin	41					
5.	Protein traffic, fungal vesicles and vacuole biogenesis						
6	Aflatoxin biosynthesis and aflatoxisomes: an example of how cells integrate secondary metabolism into the established cellular machinery 42						

^{*} Corresponding author at: 234B G. M. Trout Building, Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI-48824, USA. Fax: +1 517 353 8963.

E-mail address: jlinz@msu.edu (J.E. Linz).

^{1087-1845/\$ -} see front matter \otimes 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2010.05.006

7.	Temporal and spatial organization in secondary metabolism; VeA is a master coordinator of aflatoxisome biogenesis	43
8.	Conclusions and implications for future research	44
	Acknowledgments	45
	References	45

1. Introduction

1.1. Secondary metabolism

Secondary metabolites are an extremely diverse group of natural products synthesized by plants, fungi, bacteria, algae, and animals (Hoffmeister and Keller, 2007; Keller et al., 2005). One school of thought views secondary metabolism as a means to safely store or eliminate "waste" metabolites that result from primary metabolism; these secondary metabolites frequently are produced at highest levels during a transition from active growth to stationary phase and the producer organism can grow in the absence of their synthesis suggesting that secondary metabolism is not essential at least for short term survival. A second view proposes that the genes involved in secondary metabolism provide a "genetic playing field" that allows mutation and natural selection to fix new beneficial traits via evolution. A third view characterizes secondary metabolism as an integral part of cellular metabolism and biology; it relies on primary metabolism to supply the required enzymes, energy, substrates, and cellular machinery and contributes to the long term survival of the producer. This review adopts portions of each of these views to present a broader picture of the function and evolutionary role of secondary metabolism.

1.2. The "molecular switch" and temporal regulation

Because many secondary metabolites are synthesized at highest levels at specific times during the life cycle of the organism, it became apparent that cells have evolved a complex "molecular switch" that activates the genes involved in secondary metabolism and controls the flow of primary metabolites (carbon and nitrogen) through these pathways. To date, many details of the "molecular switch" have been discovered and it is clear that the switch helps explain, at least in part, the mechanisms by which cells control when (temporal switch) and to what extent pathway genes in secondary metabolism are activated. Many important aspects of the role of signal transduction pathways, pathway and global regulators, and the role of chromatin remodeling in the regulation of gene expression at the level of a single gene and of the gene cluster have been elucidated (please see excellent work on these topics (Bhatnagar et al., 2006; Cary et al., 2006; Ehrlich et al., 2004, 2005; Georgianna and Payne, 2009; Hoffmeister and Keller, 2007; Miller and Linz, 2006; Yabe and Nakajima, 2004).

1.3. Spatial regulation and translocation

It was recently discovered that aflatoxisomes, a group of specialized trafficking vesicles, participate in the biosynthesis, sequestering, and export of aflatoxin to the cell exterior in *Aspergillus parasiticus* (Chanda et al., 2009). The spatial distribution of key elements in secondary metabolism throughout the cell is also observed in other filamentous fungi and plants (Hong and Linz, 2008, 2009; Hoppert et al., 2001; Kutchan, 2005; Lendenfeld et al., 1993; Lunn, 2007; Saikia and Scott, 2009). It then became clear that the initial "temporal switch" model failed to take into account the sub-cellular site for the synthesis of the substrates, enzymes, cofactors, and intermediates involved in secondary metabolism and how these materials are translocated (brought together) to allow efficient operation of the metabolic pathway. The key themes of spatial distribution and translocation appear on a recurring basis throughout this review. Toward the end of this presentation, we propose a modified "molecular switch" model that summarizes our view of the mechanisms cells utilize to accomplish the temporal and spatial regulation of secondary metabolism.

1.4. Overview

The current review focuses on sub-cellular compartmentalization, intra-cellular molecular traffic, and how these processes contribute to the initiation and completion of secondary metabolism within the cell. Aflatoxin biosynthesis serves to illustrate many of the key principals discussed because of recent breakthroughs in analysis of this secondary metabolic pathway. Aflatoxin synthesis will be presented as an example of the intricate spatial and temporal organization in secondary metabolism and data will be introduced and discussed from several different organisms in support of this discussion. As an important part of this presentation, we discuss the origin and biogenesis of aflatoxisomes and a role of aflatoxisomes in fungal secondary metabolism and export. Our studies on aflatoxisomes also suggest that aflatoxin synthesis "borrows" sub-cellular organelles (vesicles and other established machinery) initially utilized for vacuole biogenesis as part of primary metabolism; the cell adds new functions to these structures as toxin synthesis and export proceed. We discuss what is known about this sequence of events and the implications to secondary metabolism specifically and to cell biology in general. We then make predictions about specific details of the mechanisms that mediate the temporal and spatial regulation of secondary metabolism and formulate hypotheses to promote filling of "knowledge gaps" in the literature. Finally, we speculate on the future directions of this field of study to address the proposed hypotheses.

2. Secondary metabolism is an integral part of cellular metabolism

Secondary metabolism in plants, fungi, and algae exhibits several common features that promote integration with primary metabolism at the molecular and cellular levels. First, secondary metabolic pathways use substrates (e.g. acyl-CoA, amino acids, nucleotides, and carbohydrates), cofactors, metabolites and energy that are formed during primary metabolism. This statement is supported by the observation that a genetic block in secondary metabolism in A. parasiticus results in re-direction of carbon flow within fungal cells (Roze et al., 2010). The most dramatic changes were observed after disruption of veA that encodes a global regulator of secondary metabolism and development (ΔveA); VeA is a unique fungal regulator of secondary metabolism that is not present in yeast and plants (Calvo, 2008). A. parasiticus ΔveA grown in liquid shake culture (under conditions where the block in secondary metabolism is observed but no fungal development occurs) produced significantly higher levels of ethanol and volatile compounds derived from branched chain amino acids in comparison to the wild type.

Second, an evolutionary link between secondary and primary metabolism is supported by studies that suggest that secondary metabolic pathways "borrow" enzymes from primary metabolism and establish novel cellular functions for these existing enzymes via random mutation (Firn and Jones, 2009; Greenhagen et al., 2006; Vining, 1992).

Third, genes for secondary metabolic pathways frequently are clustered and these clusters consist of two to many non-homologous genes. Clustering provides the organism with one mechanism to coordinate temporal regulation of gene expression in an orderly manner (Bok et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2009; Palmer et al., 2008; Reyes-Dominguez et al., 2010; Roze et al., 2007; Trail et al., 1995). To accomplish this regulation, the cell employs conserved cellular regulatory "tools"; these include signal transduction pathways [heterotrimeric G-proteins, protein kinase A (PKA), PI3-kinase, Ras, MAP kinase, and cAMP (Bok and Keller, 2004; Hicks et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2007; Roze et al., 2004a; Shimizu and Keller, 2001; Shimizu et al., 2003; Valiante et al., 2009)], cyclic AMP response element binding proteins like CRE1 bp (Roze et al., 2004b), and global transcription factors such as AreA (Ehrlich and Cotty, 2002), and PacC (Espeso et al., 1993). In addition, unique pathway and global regulators of secondary metabolism evolved including AflR (Woloshuk et al., 1994), VeA (Calvo, 2008), and LaeA (Bayram et al., 2008; Bok and Keller, 2004). Our group and others recently discovered that certain pathway and global transcriptional regulators of secondary metabolism can modulate gene expression at the level of chromatin remodeling (Roze et al., 2007); in the case of aflatoxin biosynthesis, the level of acetylation of histone H4 in nucleosomes was directly correlated with the order of activation of the aflatoxin genes (Roze et al., 2007). Additionally, many secondary metabolite gene clusters are located in the telomeric regions of chromosomes and these are linked with a high frequency of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (Cuomo et al., 2007). This observation provides important supporting evidence related to the "genetic playing field" view of secondary metabolism. The telomeric location is also associated with regulation by chromatin remodeling in Aspergillus (Shwab et al., 2007).

Another common characteristic of secondary metabolism is that enzymes, intermediates and end products of secondary metabolic pathways, are often localized in different sub-cellular membranous organelles (vacuoles, vesicles, peroxisomes, cytoplasm), in highly specialized cells, or in different plant tissues. Also, the enzymes involved in secondary metabolic pathways are organized into multifunctional enzyme complexes in which efficient catalysis is promoted by metabolic channeling (Burbulis and Winkel-Shirley, 1999; Jorgensen et al., 2005; Pelletier et al., 1999; Winkel-Shirley, 2001; Winkel, 2004). The spatial distribution of the biosynthetic enzymes in secondary metabolism requires translocation of these proteins and their substrates from one location to another within the same cell or between different cells (molecular traffic); translocation is also a central feature of primary metabolism (Jorgensen et al., 2005; Kutchan, 2005; Ovadi and Saks, 2004; Winkel, 2004). Intra-cellular compartmentalization of enzymes into or on membranous organelles also facilitates metabolic channeling (Jorgensen et al., 2005; Kutchan, 2005).

Finally, studies in a number of fungi, plants, and bacteria contribute to our understanding of the biochemical and physiological benefits that are derived from the ability to carry out secondary metabolism. For example, secondary metabolism helps maintain cellular homeostasis by regulating carbon and nitrogen flow in the cell (Price-Whelan et al., 2007; Roze et al., 2010), by re-generating intra-cellular NAD + concentrations (Dietrich et al., 2008; Price-Whelan et al., 2006, 2007), and by relieving cellular oxidative stress (Huang et al., 2009). Secondary metabolism also participates in cellular defense (Schroeckh et al., 2009), development (Keller et al., 2005), and promotes survival during conditions of nutrient deprivation (Dietrich et al., 2008; Price-Whelan et al., 2006, 2007). In plants, secondary metabolites have also been shown to carry out important functions including defense against herbivores and microbial pathogens, allelopathy, UV protection, fertility, and modulation of auxin transport (see reviews by (Belz, 2007; Buer et al., xxxx; Frey et al., 2009; Peer and Murphy, 2007). However, the function of many secondary metabolites is unknown.

In summary, data accumulated to date strongly suggest that secondary metabolism is an important part of a continuum with primary metabolism; the secondary metabolic pathways are intimately integrated into the biochemical and cellular machinery established as part of primary metabolism. The biosynthetic pathways also have been shaped by selective pressure to provide biochemical and physiological advantages to the producing cell.

3. Substrates for secondary metabolism are spatially distributed in the cell

Secondary metabolic pathways utilize substrates generated in different branches of primary metabolism; these metabolites are compartmentalized into metabolic pools that are distinct based on origin and destination. It is often not known which metabolic pool provides the substrate required for synthesis of a given secondary metabolite, whether different intra-cellular pools of the same metabolite interchange, and how metabolite translocation occurs. We discuss compartmentalization of acyl-CoA and amino acids, which serve as starter units for the biosynthesis of polyketides, alkaloids, phenylpropanoids, and β -lactam antibiotics to illustrate this idea.

3.1. Substrates for polyketide secondary metabolites

Polyketide synthases (PKS) utilize a variety of acyl-CoAs as starter units for the biosynthesis of polyketides, members of a large family of structurally diverse secondary metabolites produced by plants, fungi and bacteria. Acetyl-CoA, propionyl-CoA, malonyl-CoA and branched chain acyl-CoAs derived from the branched chain amino acids leucine, isoleucine, and valine, are the most common starter units for PKS I, II, and III. Type I PKS consist of one or more large proteins. These proteins contain multiple active sites, each of which catalyzes a different reaction involved in polyketide biosynthesis. Type II PKS consist of complexes carrying several monofunctional enzymes. Type III PKS are homodimeric enzyme complexes that act independently of acyl carrier protein (Moore and Hertweck, 2002; Staunton and Weissman, 2001).

Acetyl-CoA is also a starter unit in the mevalonate or isoprenoid pathway, which results in the synthesis of farnesyl phosphate (Daum et al., 1998); the latter leads to the synthesis of sterols and terpene secondary metabolites including carotenoids and trichothecenes (Daum et al., 1998; Desjardins and Proctor, 2007; Desjardins, 2009; Hoffmeister and Keller, 2007; Rau and Mitzka-Schnabel, 1985). Acetyl-CoA and the amino acids alanine, methionine, serine, and glutamic acid, are the precursors of fumonisins which are structurally related to sphingolipids (ApSimon, 2001). Fumonisins are mainly produced by *Fusarium* spp. (ApSimon, 2001; Desjardins, 2009; Rheeder et al., 2002).

Acetyl-CoA can be produced in the cell by various biochemical processes in distinct sub-cellular locations including mitochondria, plastids (plants), peroxisomes, and the cytosol. Acetyl-CoA is produced in mitochondria by conversion of pyruvate (delivered from the cytosol) by a pyruvate dehydrogenase complex and by betaoxidation of short-chain fatty acids. In yeast, cytosolic pyruvate is converted into a cytosolic pool of acetyl-CoA with the help of pyruvate decarboxylase, cytosolic acetaldehyde dehydrogenase, and acetyl-CoA synthase (Boubekeur et al., 1999, 2001; Pronk et al., 1996). Acetyl-CoA synthase is localized in the cytosol and nucleus (Takahashi et al., 2006). In plants, mammals, and filamentous fungi, cytosolic acetyl-CoA is produced by a multiple subunit enzyme, ATP-citrate lyase (ACL) that converts citrate, ATP and CoA to acetyl-CoA, oxaloacetate, ADP and inorganic phosphate (Fatland et al., 2000, 2002). ACL localizes to the cytosol and nucleus (Wellen et al., 2009). There is no apparent ATP-citrate lyase in yeast (Adams et al., 2002; Sheridan et al., 1990). An additional source of acetyl-CoA is catabolism of amino acids such as leucine, tryptophan, lysine, phenylalanine, tyrosine, and isoleucine.

Acetyl-CoA cannot penetrate organelle membranes and requires specific shuttle mechanisms to gain entry. First, acetyl-CoA can enter the glyoxylate cycle, which produces citrate and succinate; these can then penetrate the peroxisome and mitochondrion and subsequently generate acetyl-CoA (Antonenkov et al., 2009; Boubekeur et al., 2001; van Roermund et al., 1999). The formation of acetylcarnitine from acetyl-CoA and carnitine by carnitine acetyltransferase, provides another mechanism to shuttle acetyl-CoA across membranes that envelop peroxisomes, nuclei, and mitochondria. Acetyl-CoA is then released by the reverse reaction with the help of carnitine acetvltransferase, which is present in the cvtosol, mitochondria, and peroxisomes (Madiraju et al., 2009; van Roermund et al., 1999). Different sources of acetyl-CoA are used for different subsequent processes. For example, in mammalian cells, acetyl-CoA generated in mitochondria and transported in a form of acetylcarnitine to the nucleus, is used for histone acetylation (Madiraju et al., 2009). Another source of acetyl-CoA utilized for histone acetylation in mammalian cells, is acetyl-CoA produced from citrate by ATP-citrate lyase (ACL), which catalyzes cleavage of citrate in the presence of ATP and CoA to produce acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate; the second source is used preferentially. In Saccharomyces cerevisiae, a nuclear acetyl-CoA synthetase ACS2 that generates acetyl-CoA from acetate is a rate limiting step for histone acetylation (Takahashi et al., 2006).

In filamentous fungi, acetyl-CoA can be formed in the cytosol through formation of pyruvate by a similar scheme as observed in yeast, in mitochondria from beta-oxidation of short-chain fatty acids, and in peroxisomes from beta-oxidation of long and very long-chain fatty acids (Maggio-Hall and Keller, 2004; Maggio-Hall et al., 2005). Most filamentous fungi, in contrast to yeast, possess ACL (Adams et al., 2002: Sheridan et al., 1990). In fungi, acetyl-CoA synthase is involved in acetate utilization (Sandeman and Hynes, 1989). An additional source of cytosolic acetate-CoA is the pentose phosphate pathway due to the presence of phosphoketolase genes in fungi (Thykaer and Nielsen, 2007). Secondary metabolites in the aflatoxin family are polyketide-derived furanocoumarins; the initial starter unit, acetyl-CoA, is converted to malonyl-CoA followed by generation of hexanoyl-CoA by a specialized fatty acid synthase; this intermediate is then extended to a decaketide by polyketide synthase A (PksA) (Keller et al., 2005; Trail et al., 1995).

It is reasonable to suggest that the biosynthesis of aflatoxin starts in sub-cellular locations where the substrate, acety-CoA, accumulates; however, it is unclear which acetyl-CoA pool is utilized. Recent evidence suggests that peroxisomes are the site of the initial steps of aflatoxin biosynthesis (Maggio-Hall et al., 2005). This group demonstrated that at least part of the acetyl-CoA required for aflatoxin synthesis is supplied by beta-oxidation of fatty acids in peroxisomes; the authors also showed that an early intermediate in aflatoxin biosynthesis, norsolorinic acid (NA), accumulates in peroxisomes in mutant strains of *Aspergillus nidulans, Aspergillus flavus*, and *A. parasiticus*; all three strains carry a defective *nor*-1 and accumulate non-physiologically high levels of NA.

3.2. Substrates for amino acid-derived secondary metabolites

In. *S. cerevisiae*, the vacuole represents the primary sub-cellular location where proteins are degraded and amino acids (primarily basic amino acids) accumulate (Kitamoto et al., 1988). The vacuole

therefore plays an important role in maintaining cellular amino acid homeostasis (Sekito et al., 2008). The catabolism of branched chain amino acids is catalyzed by a branched chain amino acid aminotransferase that forms a 2-keto acid; this reaction controls the flow of carbon through the catabolic pathway (Hazelwood et al., 2008). In S. cerevesiae, the branched chain amino acid aminotransferase BAT1 (BCATm) is located in mitochondria whereas BAT2 is cytosolic which suggests that the accumulation of BCAA may occur in these sub-cellular locations (Islam et al., 2010). Streptomyces spp. synthesize a variety of polyketide antibiotics using complex starter units including isobutyryl-CoA, isovaleryl-CoA, and 2-methylbutyryl-CoA; the latter are derived from catabolism of the branched chain amino acids valine, leucine, and isoleucine (Denoya et al., 1995; Stirrett et al., 2009). The connection between BCAA catabolism and secondary metabolism in fungi is currently unknown.

4. Enzymes for secondary metabolism are compartmentalized within the cell

A large number of sub-cellular localization studies indicate that the enzymes, substrates, intermediates and end products of secondary metabolism often accumulate at different sub-cellular locations (e.g. vacuoles, vesicles, peroxisomes, cytoplasm, ER); this occurs regardless whether the biosynthetic pathway consists of only three enzymes as in penicillin biosynthesis, or involves more than 17 enzyme activities as in aflatoxin biosynthesis (Chanda et al., 2009; Evers et al., 2004; Hong, 2008; Hong and Linz, 2008; Hoppert et al., 2001; Kutchan, 2005; Lendenfeld et al., 1993; Maggio-Hall and Keller, 2004; Sirikantaramas et al., 2008; Ziegler and Facchini, 2008). This observed dispersal of biosynthetic machinery is a common feature of secondary metabolism in both plants and fungi. Methods suitable for localization studies in plants and fungi were recently reviewed (Lunn, 2007). Many plants exhibit a variation on this same theme whereby secondary metabolites (e.g. oils, alkaloids, flavonoids, terpenes) are frequently produced by specialized cells or specialized tissues (Kutchan, 2005; Weid et al., 2004). Accumulation of secondary metabolites in cells, tissue, cell culture and the growth medium, correlates in general with the coordinated expression of genes that encode enzymes in the corresponding biosynthetic pathway.

Intriguingly, experiments designed to track enzyme localization helped to demonstrate that early, middle, and late reactions in a biosynthetic pathway are often performed in different sub-cellular locations; synthesis of alkaloids, flavonoids, and monoterpenes in plants, penicillin biosynthesis in *Penicillium chrysogenum*, and aflatoxin biosynthesis in *Aspergilli* serve as important illustrations for this concept.

4.1. Plant secondary metabolites

4.1.1. Alkaloids

Alkaloids are low molecular weight compounds characterized by a heterocyclic backbone containing nitrogen; alkaloid biosynthesis has been reviewed extensively (Blunt et al., 2007; Facchini, 2001; Facchini and St-Pierre, 2005; Kutchan, 2005; Wang et al., 2010; Ziegler and Facchini, 2008). Examples of alkaloids with beneficial activities include the well-known anticancer drug, vinblastine, the analgetics morphine and codeine, the muscle relaxant, papaverine, as well as compounds such as caffeine, cocaine, nicotine, and colchicine (Facchini and St-Pierre, 2005; Ziegler and Facchini, 2008). Biosynthesis of alkaloids relies heavily on amino acid substrates that include ornithine, lysine, proline, phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan (Mann, 1987). The alkaloid biosynthetic machinery in plants demonstrates common characteristics: these include: (1) alkaloids accumulate within multiple cell types and tissues, (2) pathway enzymes localize to multiple sub-cellular compartments, and (3) multienzyme complexes form. These common characteristics suggest that the intermediates, end products and pathway enzymes involved in alkaloid biosynthesis, are translocated not only within a cell but also between cells that belong to different tissue types (St-Pierre et al., 1999). For example, monoterpenoid indole alkaloids generated in Madagascar periwinkle (Catharanthus roseus) accumulate in specialized cells called idioblasts and laticifers; however the enzymes involved in the biosynthetic pathways are found in roots, photosynthetic organs, in the epidermis of young leaves and stems, and in flower buds (St-Pierre et al., 1999). The biosynthetic enzymes localize to different subcellular compartments including cytosol, vacuole, ER, vesicles, and thylakoid membrane (Deus-Neumann and Zenk, 1986; Deus-Neumann, 1984; McCaskill et al., 1988; Roytrakul and Verpoorte, 2007: Ziegler and Facchini, 2008). Interestingly, the enzymes involved in the condensation reaction of monomers, strictosidine synthase and peroxidase, are localized to vacuoles, which suggests that cells compartmentalize the reactions that produce harmful end products, thereby protecting the cell from self-toxicity (Deus-Neumann and Zenk, 1986; Deus-Neumann, 1984; McCaskill et al., 1988; Roytrakul and Verpoorte, 2007). Examples of alkaloids sequestered in vacuoles include berberine in cell culture of Coptis japonica (accumulation is mediated by an ABC transporter and an H+/berberine antiporter) (Otani et al., 2005) and nicotine in tobacco (Nicotiana rustica) (Saunders, 1979). The biosynthesis of sanguinarine, a quaternary benzo[c]phenanthridine alkaloid with pro-apoptotic effects occurs in opium poppy (Papaver somniferum) cells; its transport to the vacuole is associated with ER-derived vesicles (Alcantara et al., 2005). An analogous vesicle-mediated mechanism for transport to vacuole and secretion into the culture medium was reported for camptothecin, a pentacyclic alkaloid synthesized in roots of Ophiorrhiza pumila (Sirikantaramas et al., 2007); camptothecin derivatives are used for treatment of human cancers.

4.1.2. Flavonoids

Flavonoids are polyphenolic secondary metabolites with pharmacological (anticancer) and biological activities (Tanaka et al., 2008). Flavonoid biosynthesis initiates from phenylalanine and acetyl CoA to form coumaryl CoA. Then a Type III polyketide synthase, chalcone synthase, catalyzes condensation of one molecule of 4-coumaryl-CoA with three molecules of malonyl-CoA to form a chalcone [tetrahydroxychalcone]. Different flavonoids with related chemical structures including anthocyanins, apigenin (flavone), naringenin (falvanone), kaemferol (flavonol), aureusidin 6glucoside and isosalipurposide (chalcone), are formed by multiple biosynthetic branches that originate from chalcone. Flavonoid metabolism is catalyzed by an enzyme complex localized on the cytoplasmic side of the endoplasmic reticulum (Burbulis and Winkel-Shirley, 1999; Hrazdina et al., 1987). Burbulis and Winkel-Shirley (1999) showed that at least three enzymes involved in flavonoid biosynthesis in Arabidopsis, chalcone synthase, chalcone isomerase, and dihydroflavonol 4-reductase, physically interact in an orientation-dependent manner (Burbulis and Winkel-Shirley, 1999).

Several studies demonstrated that the products of flavonoid biosynthetic pathways are carried from biosynthetic sites in the cytoplasm to the vacuole with the involvement, at least in some species, of specific transporters. Anthocyanins produced in lisianthus (*Eustoma grandiflorum*) petals are transported to the central vacuole with the help of intra-cellular vesicles, or pre-vacuole compartments, derived directly from the endoplasmic reticulum (Zhang et al., 2006). In *Arabidopsis*, anthocyanin and proanthocyanidin transport to the vacuole is mediated by glutathione S-transferase TT19 (Alfenito et al., 1998; Kitamura et al., 2004; Marrs et al., 1995) and by a vacuolar flavonoid/H+-antiporter TT12 (Marinova et al., 2007). A multidrug resistance-associated protein, ZmMrp3, is required for the transport of the anthocyanin pigment into the vacuole in maize (*Zea mays*) (Goodman et al., 2004).

4.1.3. Cannabinoids

A unique group of terpenophenolics called cannabinoids, is synthesized in marijuana (Cannabis sativa L.). Among the approximately 70 cannabinoids characterized to date, delta (1)tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) is the best-known psychoactive compound. THC biosynthesis occurs in glandular trichomes and begins with condensation of geranyl pyrophosphate with olivetolic acid to produce cannabigerolic acid (CBGA); the reaction is catalyzed by an enzyme called geranylpyrophosphate:olivatolate geranyltransferase. CBGA then undergoes oxidative cyclization to generate tetrahydrocannabinolic acid (THCA) in the presence of THCA synthase. THCA is then transformed into THC by non-enzymatic decarboxylation. Sub-cellular localization studies using RT-PCR and enzymatic activity analyses demonstrate that THCA synthase is expressed in the secretory cells of glandular trichomes, and then is translocated into the secretory cavity where the end product THCA accumulates (Sirikantaramas et al., 2005). Of particular interest, the enzyme present in the secretory cavity is functional, which suggests that the storage cavity is the site for THCA biosynthesis and storage.

4.2. Fungal secondary metabolites

Fungal secondary metabolites are broadly divided into five diverse categories (Hoffmeister and Keller, 2007): polyketides, polyketide–peptide hybrids, fatty acid derived compounds, aminoacid-derived compounds and non-ribosomal peptides. Localization studies on enzymes in fungal secondary metabolism are summarized in Table 1.

4.2.1. Polyketides

Sub-cellular localization of enzymes involved in aflatoxin biosynthesis has been studied extensively in our laboratory; to date, this work represents the most thorough sub-cellular localization studies on fungal polyketide biosynthesis. In early work, Lawellin et al. (1977) used anti-aflatoxin antibodies and an enzyme-linked immunochemical technique to detect discreet spots in the mycelium; these data suggest that aflatoxin is deposited in granules within 72 h old A. parasiticus mycelia grown in submerged culture. Later, we used a novel time-fractionated fungal colony technique, Western blot analysis, and immunofluorescence microscopy to detect Nor-1, Ver-1, and OmtA in A. parasiticus grown under aflatoxin-inducing conditions on a solid growth medium (YES). These three enzymes were not present between 0 and 24 h after inoculation, but were detected in large quantity in 24-48 h old mycelium (Lee et al., 2002, 2004). Immunoelectronmicroscopy showed that the enzymes first appear in the cytoplasm (between 24 and 36 h). Later in growth (48-72 h), the enzymes are found in vesicles and vacuoles; these organelles were concentrated on the substrate surface of the colony. VBS, the only glycosylated enzyme in the aflatoxin pathway (Silva and Townsend, 1997), was also detected between 24 and 48 h after inoculation. However, using immunofluorescence confocal laser scanning microscopy and immunogold transmission electron microscopy, VBS was detected throughout the cytoplasm in patches and in ring-like structures surrounding nuclei suggesting the enzyme is transported by vesicles to vacuoles via the classical endoplasmic reticulum/Golgi secretory pathway (Chiou et al., 2004).

Recently, Hong (Hong and Linz, 2008, 2009) established a monitoring system to track localization of aflatoxin enzymes in real

Table 1

Published studies showing localization of enzymes in fungal secondary metabolism.

Class	Biosynthetic pathway	Enzymes	Sub-cellular location	Method of	References
1. Polyketides	Aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway	Fatty acid synthases and polyketide synthase	Peroxisomes	M	Maggio-Hall et al. (2005)
	patriway	Norsolorinic acid reductase [Nor-1]	Cytoplasm, vesicles and vacuoles	I, R	Hong and Linz (2009), Lee et al. (2004)
		Versicolorin B synthase [Vbs]	Cytoplasm, vesicles and vacuoles	I, S	Chanda et al. (2009), Chiou et al. (2004)
		Versicolorin A reductase [Ver-1]	Cytoplasm, vesicles and vacuoles	I, R, S	Chanda et al. (2009), Hong and Linz (2008), Lee et al. (2004)
		O-methyl transferase A [OmtA]	Cytoplasm, vesicles and vacuoles	I, S, F	Chanda et al. (2009), Lee et al. (2004)
		Oxidoreductase A	Vesicles and	F	Chanda et al. (2009)
	Sterigmatocystin biosynthetic pathway	Fatty acid synthases and polyketide synthase	Peroxisomes	М	Maggio-Hall et al. (2005)
 Amino acid-derived secondary metabolites and non-ribosomal pentides 	Penicillin and cephalosporin	ACVS [first pathway enzyme]	Golgi derived vesicles	S	Kurylowicz et al. (1987)
peptides			Vacuole	T	Lendenfeld et al. (1993)
			Cytosol	I	van de Kamp et al. (1999), van der Lende et al. (2002)
		IPNS [second pathway enzyme]	Cytosol	Ι	van de Kamp et al. (1999), van der Lende et al. (2002)
		IAT [final pathway enzyme]	Peroxisomes**	Ι	Muller et al. (1992), van de Kamp et al. (1999), van der Lende et al. (2002), Sprote et al. (2009)
	Cyclosporin	Cyclosporin synthase [key enzyme]	Vacuole membrane	Ι	Hoppert et al. (2001)
3. Terpenes	Paxilline biosynthesis	GgsA	Punctuate organelles	R	Saikia and Scott (2009)
		GgsB(PaxG)	Peroxisomes	R	Saikia and Scott (2009)
	Carotenoid biosynthesis	Prenyltransferase(s)	Soluble fraction	S	Rau and Mitzka-Schnabel (1985)
		Carotegenic enzymes	Membranes of ER	S	Rau and Mitzka-Schnabel (1985)

* Only published data are included. Our proteomic analysis data on aflatoxisomes (Chanda et al., 2010b) show the presence of 13 aflatoxin enzymes out of 17 (Fas1, Fas2, PksA, Nor-1, NorA, Ver-1, Vbs, AvnA, OrdA, OmtA, OmtB, EstA, AflT).

^{**} In P. chrysogenum, preventing IAT localization in peroxisomes blocks penicillin synthesis but in A. nidulans, blocking peroxisomal localization of IAT reduces penicillin biosynthesis but does not shut it down completely (Sprote et al., 2009). M: microscopy of mutants to detect accumulation of intermediates; R: sub-cellular tracking of EGFP fusions in real-time; I: immunogold labeling; S: detection of enzymes in isolated sub-cellular fractions; F: direct demonstration of the presence and functionality of enzymes by feeding studies with isolated organelle fraction.

time in living tissue. He fused enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) to the early aflatoxin enzyme Nor-1 or the middle enzyme Ver-1; expression of the fusions was under the control of the corresponding wild-type promoter. The reporter construct integrated into the homologous site in the aflatoxin gene cluster. Using confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM), he demonstrated that EGFP-tagged Ver-1 or Nor-1 localized to the cytoplasm, vacuoles, and vesicle-like structures in 48 h and 72 h old *A. parasiticus* mycelia grown in slide culture under aflatoxin-inducing conditions; the fusions were not detected under conditions that restricted aflatoxin biosynthesis.

4.2.2. β -Lactam antibiotics

The fungal β -lactam antibiotics penicillin G, produced by *P. chrysogenum* and *A. nidulans*, and cephalosporin C, produced by *Cephalosporium acremonium*, originate from amino acids L- α -aminoadipic acid, L-cystein, and L-valine. The biosynthetic pathways for these two antibiotics share the first two enzymatic steps, and then the pathways diverge (Brakhage et al., 2004; Kurylowicz et al., 1987; van de Kamp et al., 1999). To complete biosynthesis

of penicillin, the catalytic activity of three enzymes is needed, including δ -(L-a-aminoadipyl)-L-cysteinyl-D-valine (ACV) synthetase (ACVS), isopenicillin N (IPN) synthase (IPNS) and acyl-coenzyme A:isopenicillin N (acyl-CoA:IPN) acyltransferase (IAT). Cephalosporin biosynthesis requires activities of a different set of enzymes after formation of IPN, including IPN epimerase (IPNE), the bifunctional deacetoxycephalosporin (DAOC) synthase/deacetylcephalosporin (DAC) synthase (DAOCS/DACS; expandase/ hydroxylase), and acetyl-CoA:DAC acetyltransferase (DAT). ACVS and IPNS are located in the cytosol (van de Kamp et al., 1999; van der Lende et al., 2002). Despite this cytosolic enzyme location, a primary source of the precursors for the pathway is the vacuolar pool of amino acids. The last enzyme in penicillin the biosynthetic pathway, IAT, is located in peroxisomes (Muller et al., 1992; van de Kamp et al., 1999; van der Lende et al., 2002). Of note, peroxisomal localization of IAT in P. chrysogenum was essential for completion of penicillin biosynthesis. However, in A. nidulans, mislocalization of IAT due to mutations or deletion in the peroxisomal targeting signal PTS1, or due to mutations in proteins that mediate PTS1-dependent protein import into peroxisomes, did not block penicillin production but reduced it in comparison to the wild-type strain (Sprote et al., 2009). Moreover, in a strain lacking peroxisomes, penicillin production was not abolished but was reduced by approximately 50%. These data indicate that cytosolic IAT is also functional.

Based on localization studies, it appears that cephalosporin biosynthesis in *C. acremonium* takes place in the cytosol because all the enzymes are cytosolic (van de Kamp et al., 1999). However, a recent study reports that the epimerization of IPN to penicillin N (PenN) occurs in peroxisomes (Teijeira et al., 2008). Disruption of *cefM* that encodes a protein of the major facilitator superfamily (MFS) resulted in accumulation of large quantities of PenN; in addition, the *cefM* disruptant strain was unable to make cephalosporin. These data suggest that *cefM* is involved in the translocation of the cephalosporin intermediate PenN from the peroxisome to the cytosol, where cephalosporin biosynthesis is completed.

4.2.3. Cyclosporin

Cyclosporin, an undecapeptide with immunosuppressive properties, is synthesized in Tolypocladium inflatum by a non-ribosomal peptide synthetase (NRPS), cyclosporine synthetase. This enzyme consists of a large, multi-domain, single polypeptide chain protein with the size of 1.6 MDa that possesses 11 modules (Weber et al., 1994). A module is a portion of the NRPS peptide that selects one amino acid, activates it to an amino acyl adenylate in the presence of ATP, and then forms a peptide bond followed by cyclization. Cyclosporin is composed of residues of L-valine, L-leucine, L-alanine, glycine, 2-aminobutyric acid, (4R)-4-[(E)-2-butenyl]-4methyl-L-threonine, and D-alanine. Localization studies using sucrose density gradient centrifugation and electron microscopy in T. inflatum demonstrated that cyclosporine synthetase and D-alanine racemase that catalyze racemization of L-alanine to D-alanine, are loosely associated with the outer surface of the vacuolar membrane; the cytosolic amino acids are apparently used as substrates. Cyclosporine accumulates in the vacuole lumen (Hoppert et al., 2001). Consistent with data presented by Hoppert, carbon flow in cvclosporin synthesis is directed from the cvtosol towards the vacuolar lumen. In contrast, carbon flow during penicillin biosynthesis is directed from vacuoles to cytosol to peroxisomes prior to penicillin excretion to the cell exterior.

Sub-cellular compartmentalization associated with biosynthesis of secondary metabolites generates several logistical problems. For example, to accomplish the early steps in biosynthesis, the substrate must be transported to the site that houses the early pathway enzymes or the enzymes must be moved to the locations of substrate accumulation. Then, either pathway intermediates must be transported to later pathway enzymes (such as for penicillin biosynthesis) or the enzymes must be transported to a common location allowing the formation of multienzyme complexes which promote efficient synthesis and provide advantages associated with the metabolic channeling of the intermediates over very short distances. For many fungal secondary metabolites, the end product is exported to the cell exterior which means that the site of synthesis must come in contact with the cytoplasmic membrane. Compartmentalization and export promote sequestering of potentially toxic metabolites and provide a means for cells to affect competitors in their environment without harming themselves. To solve these logistical problems, cells evolved unique and interesting schemes to accomplish intra-cellular transport of the biosynthetic enzymes as well as pathway intermediates and endproducts; we call this transportation process translocation.

How do enzymes, substrates, intermediates, and endproducts move to the appropriate sub-cellular location at the correct time and in the correct quantity? The available data suggest that the cellular machinery for protein traffic may play an important role in this translocation process. Below we discuss relevant cellular mechanisms of protein traffic. Then, using aflatoxin biosynthesis as an example we provide a model that shows how a cell can modify and use existing protein traffic and sorting machinery to translocate required materials for synthesis and accomplish the storage and export of secondary metabolites.

5. Protein traffic, fungal vesicles and vacuole biogenesis

Protein trafficking machinery is responsible for moving proteins within the cell from the site of their biosynthesis to their final destination. Our current understanding of protein traffic helps to correlate the distribution of secondary metabolic pathway enzymes inside the cell with intra-cellular protein dynamics.

The intra-cellular endomembrane system (EMS) consists of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), the Golgi complex, vacuoles, endosomes, peroxisomes, autophagosomes, and vesicles. We focus our attention on vesicles and vacuoles because recent data suggest that they contribute to aflatoxisome development and the synthesis and accumulation of aflatoxin.

The vacuole, a single-membrane bound organelle, is an essential multi-functional component of the EMS (Baba et al., 1997; Kim and Klionsky, 2000; Klionsky et al., 1990; Klionsky, 1998; Kucharczyk and Rytka, 2001; Teter and Klionsky, 2000). Vacuoles are associated with protein turnover, maintenance of intra-cellular pH, and the storage of a variety of primary metabolites including amino acids and cofactors (S-adenosyl-methionine, SAM). Vesicles are double membrane bound organelles that are formed via "budding" of the ER, Golgi complex, cytoplasmic membrane, and from other sub-cellular organelles such as peroxisomes, mitochondria, and nucleus. These vesicles maintain the flow of protein and other cargo in the cell; they also carry protein cargo to the vacuole. Endosomes are generated by fusion of specialized vesicles that form during endocytosis by invagination of the cytoplasmic membrane. Vesicles and endosomes fuse and generate small vacuoles and eventually large vacuoles.

Fungi utilize several distinct pathways to target proteins to the vacuole: our current understanding of these processes is based on studies performed with yeast (Baba et al., 1997; Kim and Klionsky, 2000; Klionsky et al., 1990; Klionsky, 1998; Teter and Klionsky, 2000). The two most relevant pathways to this discussion are the secretory pathway and the cytoplasm to vacuole transport (CVT) pathway (Klionsky, 1998); these pathways as described below, participate in trafficking of the aflatoxin enzymes. Carboxypeptidase Y (CpY), the most thoroughly studied vacuolar hydrolase, is targeted to the vacuole through the secretory pathway. CpY is synthesized as an inactive pro-enzyme on ribosomes in the cytoplasm. An N-terminal signal peptide targets the protein to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) where it undergoes post-translational modification. A cargo vesicle carries CpY p1 to the Golgi complex where it is fully glycosylated generating a 69 kDa p2 protein. Another cargo vesicle buds from the Golgi and carries CpY p2 to the vacuole, where the 61 kDa active enzyme is generated. The aflatoxin enzyme, VBS, is thought to be targeted to the vacuole through the secretory pathway (see below) (Chiou et al., 2004; Silva et al., 1996; Silva and Townsend, 1997).

Another trafficking mechanism for delivery of cytoplasmic cargo (including proteins) to the vacuole is the CVT pathway which is similar to the autophagy pathway. These two pathways operate under different physiological conditions, display certain morphological similarities and possess overlapping functions (Huang and Klionsky, 2002). The CVT pathway is constitutively active; an essential characteristic of autophagy is induction by nutrient starvation. One example of a protein delivered to vacuole via the CVT pathway is aminopeptidase 1 (Ape1). Ape1 is synthesized on cytoplasmic ribosomes as a 61 kDa precursor that quickly oligomerizes into homododecameric units; these are then packaged in double membrane-bound CVT vesicles via a mechanism that is similar to the autophagy pathway (Oda et al., 1996; Teter and Klionsky, 2000). The cargo protein is carried to the vacuole and becomes incorporated via fusion of the vesicle with the developing vacuole. At least three aflatoxin enzymes, Nor-1, Ver-1, and OmtA, are believed to be transported via the CVT pathway (see below).

Protein traffic between organelles occurs with the involvement of trafficking vesicles. These form by membrane budding of the precursor organelle and then the resulting vesicles fuse with the target organelle. In the yeast S. cerevisiae, the homotypic fusion (fusion of like vesicles) of transport vesicles to the vacuole proceeds through an orderly series of events that includes priming, tethering (docking) and fusion (Whyte and Munro, 2002; Wichmann et al., 1992). A Class C Vps complex (consists of Vps11, Vps16, Vps18, and Vps33) in association with Class B Vps proteins (vacuolelinked Vam2p and Vam6p) and SNARE proteins promote tethering of vesicles and vacuole and these events eventually lead to membrane fusion (Ostrowicz et al., 2008; Whyte and Munro, 2002). Tethering also requires the involvement of a small Rab-like GTPase called Ypt7; ypt7 mutants exhibit a fragmented vacuole phenotype due to inability to carry out vesicle fusion. Vacuole biogenesis in filamentous fungi has been recently observed in A. nidulans; disruption of *avaA*, a homolog of *ypt7*, blocks tethering and generates a "fragmented vacuole" morphology characterized by an increased number of vesicles (Ohsumi et al., 2002).

Two approaches were utilized to demonstrate a role for vesicle/ vacuole tethering and fusion in aflatoxin biosynthesis (pathway described below in more detail). As A. parasiticus undergoes a transition from primary to secondary metabolism, there is a 5-8-fold increase in the number of vesicles (a shift from a low vesicle number [LVN] phenotype to a high vesicle number [HVN] phenotype); under aflatoxin non-inducing conditions the fungus demonstrated a LVN phenotype (Chanda et al., 2009). In the first approach, disruption of an avaA homolog in A. parasiticus generated a HVN phenotype, even on aflatoxin non-inducing growth medium (YEP). In the second approach. A. parasiticus was treated with protein sorting inhibitor 3 (Sortin3) that also generated an HVN phenotype on YEP. Sortin3 interferes with the function of Vps16, although the mechanism of this interference is not clear (Zouhar et al., 2004). Importantly, under aflatoxin-inducing conditions (YES), both treatments increased aflatoxin accumulation and aflatoxin export to the cell exterior. In addition, both treatments resulted in an increase in aflatoxin enzyme accumulation but did not affect aflatoxin gene expression at the transcript level. These data strongly implicated vesicles as the primary site for aflatoxin biosynthesis, aflatoxin compartmentalization and export. These vesicles were designated aflatoxisomes.

What are the molecular mechanisms that underlie a shift to the HVN phenotype and formation of aflatoxisomes under aflatoxininducing conditions? An observed decrease in expression of *vps16* and *avaA* coincided with the LVN to HVN shift and the peak in aflatoxin biosynthesis suggesting that downregulation of tethering activity may be one driving force that diverts aflatoxisomes from fusing with the vacuole and results in the HVN phenotype (Chanda et al., 2009). The mechanism which targets aflatoxisomes to the cell membrane for aflatoxin export is unclear.

6. Aflatoxin biosynthesis and aflatoxisomes; an example of how cells integrate secondary metabolism into the established cellular machinery

Aflatoxins are synthesized as a small family of related compounds including aflatoxins B₁, B₂, G₁, and G₂, by several aflatoxigenic fungal species in the genus *Aspergillus* including *A*. parasiticus, A. flavus, A. nomius, and A. nidulans (carries a similar gene cluster and synthesizes sterigmatocystin, a late pathway intermediate in aflatoxin biosynthesis). Aflatoxin B_1 (AFB₁) is the most abundant, mutagenic, and carcinogenic aflatoxin synthesized in culture and on plants (Stora and Dvorackova, 1987). Since it was discovered that aflatoxin was the causative agent of "Turkey X disease" in 1960 (Lancaster et al., 1961), the biosynthetic pathway for this mycotoxin has been intensively studied; as a result, it is currently one of the most highly characterized secondary metabolic pathways and serves as an important model system to study secondary metabolism in eukaryotes and to develop safe and effective strategies to eliminate aflatoxin from food and feed.

At least 17 enzyme activities catalyze aflatoxin biosynthesis (Keller et al., 2005; Miller and Linz, 2006); 25 or more genes clustered in a 75-Kb region on one chromosome encode these enzymes. The effect of light on aflatoxin accumulation is dependent on medium composition, initial pH, and temperature (Bennett et al., 1978; Joffe and Lisker, 1969). As a general trend, Aspergillus spp. produce aflatoxin in larger quantities in the dark as compared to the light; however, the effect varies in regard to the absolute quantities of aflatoxin produced and the level of the inhibition. Biosynthesis of aflatoxins appears to fulfill multiple biochemical and biological functions for the producer including removal of acetate, protection of the genome from UV damage (Ehrlich, 2006), quenching oxidative stress (Huang et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2008; Narasaiah et al., 2006), protection from insects (Bhatnagar et al., 2003; Rohlfs et al., 2007), and regulation of conidiation, and sclerotia development (Calvo et al., 2004; Cary et al., 2002; Mahanti et al., 1996; Trail et al., 1995).

During the past 25 years, intensive study has generated a significant body of information on aflatoxin biosynthesis including a clearer understanding of the genes involved in the biosynthetic pathway, of the signal transduction pathways that control aflatoxin biosynthesis, and of the regulation of aflatoxin biosynthesis at the level of the individual gene and the entire aflatoxin gene cluster. These processes have been reviewed recently (Bhatnagar et al., 2003; Calvo et al., 2004; Cary et al., 2002; Ehrlich, 2006; Huang et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2008; Mahanti et al., 1996; Narasaiah et al., 2006; Trail et al., 1995).

Recently, we demonstrated that specialized multifunctional vesicles, called aflatoxisomes (see above), carry out aflatoxin biosynthesis, sequester aflatoxin, and also export aflatoxin to the cell exterior (Chanda et al., 2009). In order to carry out aflatoxin biosynthesis, functional aflatoxin enzymes must either enter these organelles or the proteins must be present on their surface. Here we present a summary of available evidence that argue that aflatoxisomes originate through fusion of vesicles derived from at least two of the trafficking pathways described above, CVT and the secretory pathways. (1) Western blot analysis and feeding studies conducted on a purified vesicle/vacuole (V) fraction demonstrate that aflatoxisomes carry at least three aflatoxin enzymes OmtA, Ver-1 and Vbs (Chanda et al., 2009); new data derived from proteomic profile analysis of this same V fraction suggest that at least 13 different aflatoxin enzymes (Fas1, Fas2, PksA, Nor-1, NorA, Ver-1, Vbs, AvnA, OrdA, OmtA, OmtB, EstA, AfIT) including most of the early aflatoxin enzymes are present in these organelles (Chanda et al., 2010b). (2) Data strongly suggest that Vbs, a middle aflatoxin pathway enzyme, is transported within the fungal cell via the classical secretory pathway; it is the only aflatoxin enzyme which is glycosylated (Chiou et al., 2004; Silva et al., 1996; Silva and Townsend, 1997); Vbs is localized in discrete spots surrounding the nucleus and associates with the ER which indicates that the enzyme passes through the Golgi (Chiou et al., 2004). N-glycosylation of Vbs supports passage of this protein through the ER-Golgi via the classical secretory pathway (Chiou et al., 2004). (3) In contrast to Vbs, three other aflatoxin



Fig. 1. A model for compartmentalization, translocation, and aflatoxisome biogenesis during biosynthesis of aflatoxin in *Aspergillus* spp. The first steps in aflatoxin biosynthesis are proposed to take place in peroxisomes, where the substrate acetyl-CoA accumulates; the early enzymes (Fas, PksA) are translocated to this site by unknown mechanisms. Vesicles that originate by budding from peroxisomes (containing norsolorinic acid, Fas, PksA) and mitochondria (containing mitochondria-derived acetyl-CoA) fuse with CVT trafficking vesicles (containing middle and late aflatoxin enzymes), and eventually with secretory vesicles (containing Vbs) to develop aflatoxisomes. VeA, via an unknown mechanism, directs aflatoxisomes to export aflatoxin and aflatoxin enzymes to the cell exterior by preventing fusion of vesicles (aflatoxisomes) with the vacuole. Aflatoxin export occurs by a mechanism similar to exocytosis. This model expands on the "two-branch model" presented in Chanda et al. (2009). Known routes are depicted by dashed lines.

enzymes studied to date, Nor-1, Ver-1, and OmtA, appear to be transported by CVT vesicles within the cell. Evidence to support this idea is derived from the cytoplasmic location of synthesis, the lack of glycosylation (which normally occurs as part of the classical secretory pathway), and the observation that small peptides are cleaved from one or both ends of each of these proteins during the maturation process consistent with entry into a CVT vesicle (Baba et al., 1997; Hong and Linz, 2008). Based on these observations, it is reasonable to suggest that vesicles derived from the classical secretory and CVT pathways must to fuse in order to form aflatoxisomes to bring components of the biosynthetic machinery together. However, the occurrence of this fusion process must be verified. Aflatoxisomes appear to fulfill multiple tasks in biosynthesis of aflatoxin. First, they contain active aflatoxin enzymes and provide an environment conducive for carrying out at least the last two biosynthetic steps (Chanda et al., 2009). Second, aflatoxisomes sequester pathway intermediates, the endproduct, aflatoxin, and cofactors (S-adenosylmethionine, NADH). And finally, aflatoxisomes participate in export of the toxin to the cell exterior.

An important question remains. How are aflatoxisomes brought together with peroxisomes, the proposed site of initiation for aflatoxin biosynthesis? Below we present a model which proposes that vesicles bud from peroxisomes and mitochondria and contribute to these processes (Fig. 1). Mitochondria-derived vesicles that deliver cargo to peroxisomes have been identified (Neuspiel et al., 2008). Subsequently, mature aflatoxisomes may develop by fusion of trafficking vesicles of different origins. However, the detailed mechanisms of this trafficking cross-talk remain to be investigated.

7. Temporal and spatial organization in secondary metabolism; VeA is a master coordinator of aflatoxisome biogenesis

In order to understand how secondary metabolism is orchestrated in the cell, we must know how the enzymes, substrates/ intermediates and cofactors are delivered at the appropriate time, in the appropriate quantities, and to the appropriate sub-cellular compartments to trigger efficient operation of the pathway (temporal and spatial regulation). This process also requires the balanced flow of materials. Aflatoxin biosynthesis provides a useful example of the ability of the cell to coordinate temporal and spatial regulation. Based on data derived from recent studies on aflatoxin biosynthesis, a "two-branch model" was introduced to illustrate our current understanding of aflatoxin synthesis (Chanda et al., 2009). The model proposes that two branches are necessary to carry out aflatoxin synthesis. Branch one is the most thoroughly understood and controls synthesis of the aflatoxin biosynthetic enzymes. A heterotrimeric G-protein/cAMP/PKA signal transduction pathway (Hicks et al., 1997; Roze et al., 2004a; Shimizu and Keller, 2001; Shimizu et al., 2003), a phosphatidyl inositol (PI)-3 kinase signal transduction pathway (Lee et al., 2007), chromatin remodeling (Brosch et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2009; Reyes-Dominguez et al., 2010; Roze et al., 2007; Shwab et al., 2007), and specialized transcription factors including AfIR, AfIJ, and CRE1 bp (Chang, 2003, 2004; Payne et al., 1993; Roze et al., 2004b), are important players in activation of genes that control aflatoxin enzyme biosynthesis and activity (Fig. 1).

Branch two controls vesicle fusion, formation of aflatoxisomes, and the proper localization of aflatoxin enzymes, intermediates, and cofactors to aflatoxisomes. Others previously demonstrated that VeA, a global regulator of Aspergillus development and secondary metabolism, plays an important role in regulation of branch 1 (Calvo, 2008). We recently demonstrated that VeA, also, at least in part, regulates branch two (Chanda et al., 2009). Disruption of veA in A. parasiticus blocked accumulation of aflatoxin (as observed previously (Calvo et al., 2004) but also blocked the down regulation of expression of genes (avaA and vps16) encoding two key components of the tethering complex and strongly inhibited the LVN to HVN shift, even under aflatoxin-inducing conditions (Chanda et al., 2009). These data strongly suggest the VeA is a key player that coordinates aflatoxin gene expression with aflatoxisome development. A current revised model that includes both branches and aflatoxisome biogenesis is presented in Fig. 1.

It was previously established that aVeA protein complex mediates the light-dependent regulation of sexual reproduction and secondary metabolism (Bayram et al., 2008); the discovery and functional analysis of aflatoxisomes helped to uncover new responsibilities for VeA in secondary metabolism. Based on these studies, it appears likely that a VeA protein complex controls a functional connection between carbon flow through primary and secondary metabolism (chemical development), organelle development (aflatoxisomes), as well as development of reproductive structures. One clue about the mechanism by which VeA carries out these functions derives from the observation that disruption of *veA* causes significant changes in the volatile profile observed in cells of the mutant; these changes indicate disturbances in carbon flow through several metabolic pathways (e.g. ethanol biosynthesis and catabolism of branched chain amino acids) (Roze et al.,



Fig. 2. Multiple roles of VeA. The schematic summarizes known functions of VeA, a master-coordinator of many processes in *Aspergillus* spp.; VeA is thought to exert its functions through protein–protein interaction. A VeA protein complex was previously shown to mediate light-dependent regulation of secondary metabolism with asexual/sexual development and sclerotia formation (Bayram et al., 2008; Calvo, 2008). VeA was implicated in control of gene expression via chromatin remodeling and/or effects on transcription factor function (including AfIR, CRE1 bp, and AfIJ). Recent work uncovered a functional connection between carbon flow through primary (ethanol biosynthesis and catabolism of branched chain amino acids) and secondary metabolism (chemical development), organelle (aflatoxisomes and vacuole) development through expression of tethering complex components *avaA* and *vps16*, as well as development of reproductive structures (asexual condition and sclerotia development) (Chanda et al., 2009; Roze et al., 2010).

2010). This study also demonstrated a strong association between the accumulation of biologically active volatile compounds in ΔveA and inhibition of asexual conidiation and sclerotia formation. Therefore, VeA appears to be a "master coordinator" of the temporal and spatial regulation of chemical and morphological development (Fig. 2).

8. Conclusions and implications for future research

Significant breakthroughs in our understanding of secondary metabolism at the sub-cellular level have been achieved in recent years. These studies strongly suggest that *Aspergillus* spp., filamentous fungi with relatively small genomes, utilize conserved cellular protein trafficking machinery to conduct new cellular functions that include the biosynthesis and export of aflatoxin (Chanda et al., 2010a).

Watanabe and Townsend (2002) purified a multienzyme complex called norsolorinic acid synthase (NorS) that was composed of PksA, Fas1, and Fas2, the first enzymes in aflatoxin biosynthesis. The complex synthesizes norsolorinic acid in the presence of acetyl-CoA, malonyl-CoA, and NADPH; NorS had a mass of 1.4×10^6 Da that suggested a $\alpha 2\beta 2\gamma 2$ complex composition. Recent co-immunoprecipitation studies conducted in our laboratory (unpublished) indicate that at least Ver-1, OmtA, Nor-1, and Vbs form multienzyme complexes within the cell. Proteome profile analysis of the vesicle/vacuole (V) fraction also suggests that other aflatoxin enzymes could participate in an even larger complex in aflatoxissomes, and imply that metabolic channeling promotes efficient catalysis of aflatoxin biosynthesis; this process needs to be characterized in more detail.

Interestingly, proteome profile analysis of the (V) fraction suggests that at least one additional polyketide synthase (FluP) localizes to the aflatoxisomes. FluP exhibits strong identity to 6-methyl salicylic acid synthase in *Penicillium patulum* which catalyzes patulin production (another polyketide mycotoxin); these data point out that synthesis of other secondary metabolites may occur in aflatoxisomes. Of particular interest, disruption of *fluP* completely eliminated conidia development in *A. parasiticus* supporting a possible link between synthesis of specific polyketides and fungal development (Zhou et al., 2000). To date, we have not demonstrated the presence of patulin in (V) fraction, although it is clear that several species of *Aspergillus* are capable of patulin synthesis; more work remains to address this issue.

Several enzymes with functional connection to secondary metabolism in eukaryotes and some bacteria were also detected as part of the proteome profile of (V) fraction. For example, phosphomevalonate kinase (mevalonate/isoprene pathway), pentafunctional AROM protein (shikimate pathway), myo-inositol-1phosphate synthase (streptidine biosynthetic pathway), and acetyl-CoA carboxylase (Chanda et al., 2010b) were identified consistent with multiple functions of these organelles. We are currently conducting preliminary LC/MS/MS analysis of (V) fraction to characterize their metabolome and fatty acid composition to help determine the sub-cellular origin of the vesicles and to identify possible end products of secondary metabolite pathways.

The model for temporal and spatial regulation of aflatoxin synthesis presented above identifies several "knowledge gaps" and generates questions that still must be answered. Are there multiple classes of aflatoxisomes, each with a unique function, or is each aflatoxisome capable of synthesizing a wide array of secondary metabolites? By what specific mechanism does VeA influence temporal and spatial regulation of secondary metabolism and development? Much remains to be elucidated at the molecular level.

The story of aflatoxisome biogenesis raises an interesting and important question relative to the translocation of Vbs to vesicles. Why is this particular enzyme transported to vesicles via the classical secretory pathway while most if not all of the other enzymes are transported either from peroxisomes (early enzymes) or from the cytoplasm via the CVT pathway (middle and late enzymes)? We know that Vbs catalyzes the formation of versicolorin B, the last non-toxic intermediate in aflatoxin biosynthesis. This reaction is a key step in the subsequent creation of versicolorin A (via a desaturase) and eventually aflatoxin B₁ (via several additional enzyme activities). We also know that the pathway intermediates after versicolorin B and the end product aflatoxin B₁ are extremely toxic (Silva et al., 1996). Therefore, we hypothesize that the delivery of this key enzyme to aflatoxisomes through a different trafficking pathway signals the completion of aflatoxisome assembly and assures that the reactions that generate subsequent toxic intermediates are safely compartmentalized. Further study is required to address this hypothesis.

Recent experimental evidence suggests that aflatoxisomes export aflatoxin to the cell exterior by a "blast" mechanism reminiscent of exocytosis. The involvement of AfIT, an MSF-like transporter, in export is currently unclear; however, the available data do not exclude a mixed pump/blast (exocytosis) mechanism. We hypothesize that initially as aflatoxisomes comes into a physical contact with the plasma membrane, AfIT and/or other transporters residing in the plasma membrane participate in the pumping of aflatoxin through the membrane. Later, aflatoxisomes fuse with the cell membrane that protrudes outward through the cell wall into the surrounding environment and finally discharge (blast) the content outside the cell; the aflatoxisome membrane patches the rupture in the cell membrane. Apparently, the fungus releases large quantities of aflatoxin via this "blast" mechanism and is able to compensate for the absence of the "pump" since the deletion of *aflT* (a gene located in the aflatoxin gene cluster) has no effect on aflatoxin accumulation (Chang et al., 2004). Details of this intriguing export mechanism await further studies.

Another interesting question associated with this discussion is whether all fungal cells make aflatoxin or do specialized cells within the mycelium and colony carry out synthesis of aflatoxin and possibly other secondary metabolites? Using GFP fusions with the aflatoxin enzymes Nor-1 and Ver-1, Hong tracked intra-cellular localization of these proteins in real time. Accumulation of fluorescence was frequently observed in one cell but not at all in the adjacent cell (Hong and Linz, 2008, 2009). This observation strongly suggests that either the adjacent cell does not synthesize aflatoxin, or it synthesizes aflatoxin at earlier or later times during growth of a single hyphal fragment. This observation prompts us to hypothesize that A. parasiticus has evolved mechanisms to achieve temporal and spatial regulation of aflatoxin synthesis at the level of the single cell, the hyphal fragment, the mycelium and the colony. We propose to utilize laser capture microdissection (LCM) technology combined with real-time RT-PCR to analyze aflatoxin gene expression at the level of individual cells to address this hypothesis.

One basic question in the field of secondary metabolism regards the evolutionary significance of the acquisition of the ability to synthesize secondary metabolites (Firn and Jones, 2000, 2009; Vining, 1992). To begin to address this question, an interesting comparison can be made between yeast (which are not noted for synthesis of a wide variety of secondary metabolites) and their distant relatives, the filamentous fungi, which are particularly renowned for their abilities to synthesize a vast array of natural products. The reproductive mechanisms of filamentous fungi are significantly more complicated than those observed in yeast. A close relationship between secondary metabolism and fungal development is well established (Calvo et al., 2002). Based on sequence and metabolic analysis, the yeast *S. cerevisiae* does not carry genes that encode polyketide synthases (PKS) (that synthesize one diverse class of secondary metabolites), does not appear to produce other classes of secondary metabolites, and does not carry veA (Calvo, 2008; Kroken et al., 2003). Therefore, carbon from primary metabolism in yeast predominantly flows to ethanol biosynthesis as well as to alcohols, acids, and products derived from catabolism of branched chain amino acids (Hazelwood et al., 2008). Disruption of veA in Aspergillus spp. modulates carbon flow to a pattern reminiscent of yeast (increases biosynthesis of ethanol and products derived from catabolism of branched chain amino acids); the volatiles produced by ΔveA inhibit asexual sporulation and sclerotia production in Aspergillus spp. (Roze et al., 2010). We speculate based on these observations that acquisition of veA, which is found exclusively in the filamentous fungi, played a major role in the ability of this group of organisms to coordinate carbon flow between primary and secondary metabolism. Acquiring a single novel gene veA provided Aspergillus spp. with a regulatory framework for the spatial and temporal regulation of metabolic diversity which results from modulation of carbon flow and biosynthesis of secondary metabolites (chemical development); this framework also enhanced the ability of the cell to evolve reproduction mechanisms that are more complex than in yeast. Addressing this hypothesis provides a unique opportunity to study the evolution of secondary metabolic pathways.

In summary, the available data support the idea that aflatoxisomes are multifunctional organelles that carrying out the synthesis, storage and export of aflatoxin but may be involved in synthesis of several other secondary metabolites as well thus providing the fungal cell with ability to maximize the use of a limited genome.

Acknowledgments

Research in the Linz laboratory was supported by funds from NIH (RO1 52003-18), the Michigan State University (MSU) Agricultural Experimental Station, and MSU Internal Research Grant Program.

References

- Adams, I.P., Dack, S., Dickinson, F.M., Ratledge, C., 2002. The distinctiveness of ATP: citrate lyase from *Aspergillus nidulans*. Biochim. Biophys. Acta – Protein Struct. Mole. Enzymol. 1597, 36–41.
- Alcantara, J., Bird, D.A., Franceschi, V.R., Facchini, P.J., 2005. Sanguinarine biosynthesis is associated with the endoplasmic reticulum in cultured opium poppy cells after elicitor treatment. Plant Physiol. 138, 173–183.
- Alfenito, M.R., Souer, E., Goodman, C.D., Buell, R., Mol, J., Koes, R., Walbot, V., 1998. Functional complementation of anthocyanin sequestration in the vacuole by widely divergent glutathione S-transferases. Plant Cell 10, 1135–1149.
- Antonenkov, V.D., Mindthoff, S., Grunau, S., Erdmann, R., Hiltunen, J.K., 2009. An involvement of yeast peroxisomal channels in transmembrane transfer of glyoxylate cycle intermediates. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 41, 2546–2554.
- ApSimon, J.W., 2001. Structure, synthesis, and biosynthesis of fumonisin B1 and related compounds. Environ. Health Perspect. 109 (Suppl. 2), 245–249.
- Baba, M., Osumi, M., Scott, S.V., Klionsky, D.J., Ohsumi, Y., 1997. Two distinct pathways for targeting proteins from the cytoplasm to the vacuole/lysosome. J. Cell Biol. 139, 1687–1695.
- Bayram, O., Krappmann, S., Ni, M., et al., 2008. VelB/VeA/LaeA complex coordinates light signal with fungal development and secondary metabolism. Science 320, 1504–1506.
- Belz, R.G., 2007. Allelopathy in crop/weed interactions an update. Pest Manage. Sci. 63, 308–326.
- Bennett, J.W., Fernholz, F.A., Lee, L.S., 1978. Effect of light on aflatoxins, anthraquinones, and sclerotia in Aspergillus flavus and A. parasiticus. Mycologia 70, 104–116.
- Bhatnagar, D., Ehrlich, K.C., Cleveland, T.E., 2003. Molecular genetic analysis and regulation of aflatoxin biosynthesis. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 61, 83–93.
- Bhatnagar, D., Cary, J.W., Ehrlich, K., Yu, J., Cleveland, T.E., 2006. Understanding the genetics of regulation of aflatoxin production and *Aspergillus flavus* development. Mycopathologia 162, 155–166.
- Blunt, J.W., Copp, B.R., Hu, W.P., Munro, M.H., Northcote, P.T., Prinsep, M.R., 2007. Marine natural products. Nat. Prod. Rep. 24, 31–86.
- Bok, J.W., Keller, N.P., 2004. LaeA, a regulator of secondary metabolism in Aspergillus spp. Eukaryot Cell 3, 527–535.

- Bok, J.W., Chiang, Y.M., Szewczyk, E., et al., 2009. Chromatin-level regulation of biosynthetic gene clusters. Nat. Chem. Biol. 5, 462–464.
- Boubekeur, S., Bunoust, O., Camougrand, N., Castroviejo, M., Rigoulet, M., Guerin, B., 1999. A mitochondrial pyruvate dehydrogenase bypass in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 21044–21048.
- Boubekeur, S., Camougrand, N., Bunoust, O., Rigoulet, M., Guerin, B., 2001. Participation of acetaldehyde dehydrogenases in ethanol and pyruvate metabolism of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Eur. J. Biochem. 268, 5057– 5065.
- Brakhage, A.A., Sprote, P., Al-Abdallah, Q., Gehrke, A., Plattner, H., Tuncher, A., 2004. Regulation of penicillin biosynthesis in filamentous fungi. Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol. 88, 45–90.
- Brosch, G., Loidl, P., Graessle, S., 2008. Histone modifications and chromatin dynamics: a focus on filamentous fungi. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 32, 409–439.
- Buer, C.S., Imin, N., Djordjevic, M.A., xxxx. Flavonoids: new roles for old molecules. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 52, 98–111.
- Burbulis, I.E., Winkel-Shirley, B., 1999. Interactions among enzymes of the Arabidopsis flavonoid biosynthetic pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96, 12929–12934.
- Calvo, A.M., 2008. The VeA regulatory system and its role in morphological and chemical development in fungi. Fungal Genet. Biol. 45, 1053–1061.
- Calvo, A.M., Wilson, R.A., Bok, J.W., Keller, N.P., 2002. Relationship between secondary metabolism and fungal development. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 66, 447–459 (Table of contents).
- Calvo, A.M., Bok, J., Brooks, W., Keller, N.P., 2004. VeA is required for toxin and sclerotial production in *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 4733–4739.
- Cary, J.W., Dyer, J.M., Ehrlich, K.C., Wright, M.S., Liang, S.H., Linz, J.E., 2002. Molecular and functional characterization of a second copy of the aflatoxin regulatory gene, aflR-2, from *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1576, 316–323.
- Cary, J.W., Ehrlich, K.C., Bland, J.M., Montalbano, B.G., 2006. The aflatoxin biosynthesis cluster gene, aflX, encodes an oxidoreductase involved in conversion of versicolorin A to demethylsterigmatocystin. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72, 1096–1101.
- Chanda, A., Roze, L.V., Kang, S., Artymovich, K.A., Hicks, G.R., Raikhel, N.V., Calvo, A.M., Linz, J.E., 2009. A key role for vesicles in fungal secondary metabolism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106, 19533–19538.
- Chanda, A., Roze, L.V., Linz, J.E., 2010a. Aflatoxin export in Aspergillus parasiticus: a possible role for exocytosis. Eukaryot. Cell, submitted for publication.
- Chanda, A., Roze, L.V., Whitten, D., Wilkerson, C., Awad, D., Linz, J.E., 2010b. A model of vesicle function in secondary metabolism in *Aspergillus* spp. based on comparative proteomic profiling. J. Proteomics, submitted for publication.
- Chang, P.K., 2003. The Aspergillus parasiticus protein AFLJ interacts with the aflatoxin pathway-specific regulator AFLR. Mol. Genet. Genom. 268, 711–719.
- Chang, P.K., 2004. Lack of interaction between AFLR and AFLJ contributes to nonaflatoxigenicity of Aspergillus sojae. J. Biotechnol. 107, 245–253.
- Chang, P.K., Yu, J., Yu, J.H., 2004. AflT, a MFS transporter-encoding gene located in the aflatoxin gene cluster, does not have a significant role in aflatoxin secretion. Fungal Genet. Biol. 41, 911–920.
- Chiou, C.H., Lee, L.W., Owens, S.A., Whallon, J.H., Klomparens, K.L., Townsend, C.A., Linz, J.E., 2004. Distribution and sub-cellular localization of the aflatoxin enzyme versicolorin B synthase in time-fractionated colonies of Aspergillus parasiticus. Arch. Microbiol. 182, 67–79.
- Cuomo, C.A., Guldener, U., Xu, J.R., et al., 2007. The Fusarium graminearum genome reveals a link between localized polymorphism and pathogen specialization. Science 317, 1400–1402.
- Daum, G., Lees, N.D., Bard, M., Dickson, R., 1998. Biochemistry, cell biology and molecular biology of lipids of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Yeast 14, 1471–1510.
- Denoya, C.D., Fedechko, R.W., Hafner, E.W., McArthur, H.A., Morgenstern, M.R., Skinner, D.D., Stutzman-Engwall, K., Wax, R.G., Wernau, W.C., 1995. A second branched-chain alpha-keto acid dehydrogenase gene cluster (bkdFGH) from Streptomyces avermitilis: its relationship to avermectin biosynthesis and the construction of a bkdF mutant suitable for the production of novel antiparasitic avermectins. J. Bacteriol. 177, 3504–3511.
- Desjardins, A.E., 2009. From yellow rain to green wheat: 25 years of trichothecene biosynthesis research. J. Agric. Food Chem. 57, 4478–4484.
- Desjardins, A.E., Proctor, R.H., 2007. Molecular biology of Fusarium mycotoxins. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 119, 47–50.
- Deus-Neumann, B.Z.M., 1984. A highly selective alkaloid uptake system in vacuoles of higher plants. Planta 162, 250–260.
- Deus-Neumann, B., Zenk, M.H., 1986. Accumulation of alkaloids in plant vacuoles does not involve an ion-trap mechanism. Planta 167, 44.
- Dietrich, L.E., Teal, T.K., Price-Whelan, A., Newman, D.K., 2008. Redox-active antibiotics control gene expression and community behavior in divergent bacteria. Science 321, 1203–1206.
- Ehrlich, K.C., 2006. Evolution of the aflatoxin gene cluster. Mycotoxin Res. 22, 9-15.
- Ehrlich, K.C., Cotty, P.J., 2002. Variability in nitrogen regulation of aflatoxin production by Aspergillus flavus strains. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 60, 174– 178.
- Ehrlich, K.C., Chang, P.K., Yu, J., Cotty, P.J., 2004. Aflatoxin biosynthesis cluster gene cypA is required for G aflatoxin formation. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 6518– 6524.
- Ehrlich, K.C., Montalbano, B., Boue, S.M., Bhatnagar, D., 2005. An aflatoxin biosynthesis cluster gene encodes a novel oxidase required for conversion of versicolorin a to sterigmatocystin. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 8963–8965.

- Espeso, E.A., Tilburn, J., Arst Jr., H.N., Penalva, M.A., 1993. PH regulation is a major determinant in expression of a fungal penicillin biosynthetic gene. Embo J. 12, 3947–3956.
- Evers, M.E., Trip, H., van den Berg, M.A., Bovenberg, R.A., Driessen, A.J., 2004. Compartmentalization and transport in beta-lactam antibiotics biosynthesis. Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol. 88, 111–135.
- Facchini, P.J., 2001. Alkaloid biosynthesis in plants: biochemistry, cell biology, molecular regulation, and metabolic engineering applications. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 52, 29–66.
- Facchini, P.J., St-Pierre, B., 2005. Synthesis and trafficking of alkaloid biosynthetic enzymes. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 8, 657–666.
- Fatland, B., Anderson, M., Nikolau, B.J., Wurtele, E.S., 2000. Molecular biology of cytosolic acetyl-CoA generation. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 28, 593–595.
- Fatland, B.L., Ke, J., Anderson, M.D., Mentzen, W.I., Cui, L.W., Allred, C.C., Johnston, J.L., Nikolau, B.J., Wurtele, E.S., 2002. Molecular characterization of a heteromeric ATP-citrate lyase that generates cytosolic acetyl-coenzyme A in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 130, 740–756.
- Firn, R.D., Jones, C.G., 2000. The evolution of secondary metabolism a unifying model. Mol. Microbiol. 37, 989–994.
- Firn, R.D., Jones, C.G., 2009. A Darwinian view of metabolism: molecular properties determine fitness. J. Exp. Bot. 60, 719–726.
- Frey, M., Schullehner, K., Dick, R., Fiesselmann, A., Gierl, A., 2009. Benzoxazinoid biosynthesis, a model for evolution of secondary metabolic pathways in plants. Phytochemistry 70, 1645–1651.
- Georgianna, D.R., Payne, G.A., 2009. Genetic regulation of aflatoxin biosynthesis: from gene to genome. Fungal Genet. Biol. 46, 113–125.
- Goodman, C.D., Casati, P., Walbot, V., 2004. A multidrug resistance-associated protein involved in anthocyanin transport in Zea mays. Plant Cell 16, 1812– 1826.
- Greenhagen, B.T., O'Maille, P.E., Noel, J.P., Chappell, J., 2006. Identifying and manipulating structural determinates linking catalytic specificities in terpene synthases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103, 9826–9831.
- Hazelwood, L.A., Daran, J.M., van Maris, A.J., Pronk, J.T., Dickinson, J.R., 2008. The Ehrlich pathway for fusel alcohol production: a century of research on Saccharomyces cerevisiae metabolism. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74, 2259–2266.
- Hicks, J.K., Yu, J.H., Keller, N.P., Adams, T.H., 1997. Aspergillus sporulation and mycotoxin production both require inactivation of the FadA G alpha proteindependent signaling pathway. Embo J. 16, 4916–4923.
- Hoffmeister, D., Keller, N.P., 2007. Natural products of filamentous fungi: enzymes, genes, and their regulation. Nat. Prod. Rep. 24, 393–416.
- Hong, S.-Y., 2008. Analysis of transport and sub-cellular localization of aflatoxin biosynthetic enzymes, Ver-1 and Nor-1, using EGFP fusions in Aspergillus parasiticus. Michigan State University. Dept. of Food Science and Human Nutrition, 2008, pp. 311.
- Hong, S.Y., Linz, J.E., 2008. Functional expression and subcellular localization of the aflatoxin pathway enzyme Ver-1 fused to enhanced green fluorescent protein. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74, 6385–6396.
- Hong, S.Y., Linz, J.E., 2009. Functional expression and sub-cellular localization of the early aflatoxin pathway enzyme Nor-1 in Aspergillus parasiticus. Mycol Res..
- Hoppert, M., Gentzsch, C., Schorgendorfer, K., 2001. Structure and localization of cyclosporin synthetase, the key enzyme of cyclosporin biosynthesis in *Tolypocladium inflatum*. Arch. Microbiol. 176, 285–293.
- Hrazdina, G., Zobel, A.M., Hoch, H.C., 1987. Biochemical, immunological, and immunocytochemical evidence for the association of chalcone synthase with endoplasmic reticulum membranes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84, 8966–8970.
- Huang, W.P., Klionsky, D.J., 2002. Autophagy in yeast: a review of the molecular machinery. Cell Struct. Funct. 27, 409–420.
- Huang, J.Q., Jiang, H.F., Zhou, Y.Q., Lei, Y., Wang, S.Y., Liao, B.S., 2009. Ethylene inhibited aflatoxin biosynthesis is due to oxidative stress alleviation and related to glutathione redox state changes in *Aspergillus flavus*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 130, 17–21.
- Islam, M.M., Nautiyal, M., Wynn, R.M., Mobley, J.A., Chuang, D.T., Hutson, S.M., 2010. Branched-chain amino acid metabolon: interaction of glutamate dehydrogenase with the mitochondrial branched-chain aminotransferase (BCATm). J. Biol. Chem. 285, 265–276.
- Joffe, A.Z., Lisker, N., 1969. Effects of light, temperature, and pH value on aflatoxin production in vitro. Appl. Microbiol. 18, 517–518.
- Jorgensen, K., Rasmussen, A.V., Morant, M., Nielsen, A.H., Bjarnholt, N., Zagrobelny, M., Bak, S., Moller, B.L., 2005. Metabolon formation and metabolic channeling in the biosynthesis of plant natural products. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 8, 280–291.
- Keller, N.P., Turner, G., Bennett, J.W., 2005. Fungal secondary metabolism from biochemistry to genomics. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 3, 937–947.
- Kim, J., Klionsky, D.J., 2000. Autophagy, cytoplasm-to-vacuole targeting pathway, and pexophagy in yeast and mammalian cells. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 69, 303– 342.
- Kim, J.H., Yu, J., Mahoney, N., et al., 2008. Elucidation of the functional genomics of antioxidant-based inhibition of aflatoxin biosynthesis. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 122, 49–60.
- Kitamoto, K., Yoshizawa, K., Ohsumi, Y., Anraku, Y., 1988. Dynamic aspects of vacuolar and cytosolic amino acid pools of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Bacteriol. 170, 2683–2686.
- Kitamura, S., Shikazono, N., Tanaka, A., 2004. TRANSPARENT TESTA 19 is involved in the accumulation of both anthocyanins and proanthocyanidins in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 37, 104–114.
- Klionsky, D.J., 1998. Nonclassical protein sorting to the yeast vacuole. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 10807–10810.

- Klionsky, D.J., Herman, P.K., Emr, S.D., 1990. The fungal vacuole: composition, function, and biogenesis. Microbiol. Rev. 54, 266–292.
- Kroken, S., Glass, N.L., Taylor, J.W., Yoder, O.C., Turgeon, B.G., 2003. Phylogenomic analysis of type I polyketide synthase genes in pathogenic and saprobic ascomycetes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 15670–15675.
- Kucharczyk, R., Rytka, J., 2001. Saccharomyces cerevisiae a model organism for the studies on vacuolar transport. Acta Biochim. Pol. 48, 1025–1042.
- Kurylowicz, W., Kurzatkowski, W., Kurzatkowski, J., 1987. Biosynthesis of benzylpenicillin by *Penicillium chrysogenum* and its Golgi apparatus. Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. (Warsz) 35, 699–724.
- Kutchan, T.M., 2005. A role for intra- and intercellular translocation in natural product biosynthesis. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 8, 292–300.
- Lancaster, M.C., Jenkins, F.P., Philp, J.M., 1961. Toxicity associated with certain samples of groundnuts. Nature 192, 1095.
- Lawellin, D.W., Grant, D.W., Joyce, B.K., 1977. Aflatoxin localization by the enzymelinked immunocytochemical technique. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 34, 88–93.
- Lee, L.W., Chiou, C.H., Linz, J.E., 2002. Function of native OmtA in vivo and expression and distribution of this protein in colonies of *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 5718–5727.
- Lee, L.W., Chiou, C.H., Klomparens, K.L., Cary, J.W., Linz, J.E., 2004. Subcellular localization of aflatoxin biosynthetic enzymes Nor-1, Ver-1, and OmtA in timedependent fractionated colonies of *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Arch. Microbiol. 181, 204–214.
- Lee, J.W., Roze, L.V., Linz, J.E., 2007. Evidence that a wortmannin-sensitive signal transduction pathway regulates aflatoxin biosynthesis. Mycologia 99, 562–568.
- Lee, I., Oh, J.H., Shwab, E.K., Dagenais, T.R., Andes, D., Keller, N.P., 2009. HdaA, a class 2 histone deacetylase of *Aspergillus fumigatus*, affects germination and secondary metabolite production. Fungal Genet. Biol. 46, 782–790.
- Lendenfeld, T., Ghali, D., Wolschek, M., Kubicek-Pranz, E.M., Kubicek, C.P., 1993. Subcellular compartmentation of penicillin biosynthesis in *Penicillium chrysogenum*. The amino acid precursors are derived from the vacuole. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 665–671.
- Lunn, J.E., 2007. Compartmentation in plant metabolism. J. Exp. Bot. 58, 35-47.
- Madiraju, P., Pande, S.V., Prentki, M., Madiraju, S.R., 2009. Mitochondrial acetylcarnitine provides acetyl groups for nuclear histone acetylation. Epigenetics 4, 399–403.
- Maggio-Hall, L.A., Keller, N.P., 2004. Mitochondrial beta-oxidation in Aspergillus nidulans. Mol. Microbiol. 54, 1173-1185.
- Maggio-Hall, L.A., Wilson, R.A., Keller, N.P., 2005. Fundamental contribution of betaoxidation to polyketide mycotoxin production in planta. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 18, 783–793.
- Mahanti, N., Bhatnagar, D., Cary, J.W., Joubran, J., Linz, J.E., 1996. Structure and function of fas-1A, a gene encoding a putative fatty acid synthetase directly involved in aflatoxin biosynthesis in *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62, 191–195.
- Mann, J., 1987. Secondary Metabolism, second ed. Oxford University Press.
- Marinova, K., Pourcel, L., Weder, B., Schwarz, M., Barron, D., Routaboul, J.M., Debeaujon, I., Klein, M., 2007. The Arabidopsis MATE transporter TT12 acts as a vacuolar flavonoid/H+-antiporter active in proanthocyanidin-accumulating cells of the seed coat. Plant Cell 19, 2023–2038.
- Marrs, K.A., Alfenito, M.R., Lloyd, A.M., Walbot, V., 1995. A glutathione S-transferase involved in vacuolar transfer encoded by the maize gene Bronze-2. Nature 375, 397–400.
- McCaskill, D.G., Martin, D.L., Scott, A.I., 1988. Characterization of alkaloid uptake by *Catharanthus roseus* (L.) G. Don Protoplasts. Plant Physiol. 87, 402–408.
- Miller, M.J., Linz, J.E., 2006. Genetic mechanisms involved in regulation of mycotoxin biosynthesis. In: Shetty, K., Pometto, A., Levin, R.E. (Eds.), Food Biotechnology, second ed. CRC Press, Taylor Francis Group, New York, N.Y.
- Moore, B.S., Hertweck, C., 2002. Biosynthesis and attachment of novel bacterial polyketide synthase starter units. Nat. Prod. Rep. 19, 70–99.
- Muller, W.H., Bovenberg, R.A., Groothuis, M.H., Kattevilder, F., Smaal, E.B., Van der Voort, L.H., Verkleij, A.J., 1992. Involvement of microbodies in penicillin biosynthesis. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1116, 210–213.
- Narasaiah, K.V., Sashidhar, R.B., Subramanyam, C., 2006. Biochemical analysis of oxidative stress in the production of aflatoxin and its precursor intermediates. Mycopathologia 162, 179–189.
- Neuspiel, M., Schauss, A.C., Braschi, E., Zunino, R., Rippstein, P., Rachubinski, R.A., Andrade-Navarro, M.A., McBride, H.M., 2008. Cargo-selected transport from the mitochondria to peroxisomes is mediated by vesicular carriers. Curr. Biol. 18, 102–108.
- Oda, M.N., Scott, S.V., Hefner-Gravink, A., Caffarelli, A.D., Klionsky, D.J., 1996. Identification of a cytoplasm to vacuole targeting determinant in aminopeptidase I. J. Cell Biol. 132, 999–1010.
- Ohsumi, K., Arioka, M., Nakajima, H., Kitamoto, K., 2002. Cloning and characterization of a gene (avaA) from Aspergillus nidulans encoding a small GTPase involved in vacuolar biogenesis. Gene 291, 77–84.
- Ostrowicz, C.W., Meiringer, C.T., Ungermann, C., 2008. Yeast vacuole fusion: a model system for eukaryotic endomembrane dynamics. Autophagy 4, 5–19.
 Otani, M., Shitan, N., Sakai, K., Martinoia, E., Sato, F., Yazaki, K., 2005.
- Otani, M., Shitan, N., Sakai, K., Martinoia, E., Sato, F., Yazaki, K., 2005. Characterization of vacuolar transport of the endogenous alkaloid berberine in *Coptis japonica*. Plant Physiol. 138, 1939–1946.
- Ovadi, J., Saks, V., 2004. On the origin of intracellular compartmentation and organized metabolic systems. Mol. Cell Biochem. 256–257, 5–12.
- Palmer, J.M., Perrin, R.M., Dagenais, T.R., Keller, N.P., 2008. H3K9 methylation regulates growth and development in *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Eukaryot. Cell 7, 2052–2060.

- Payne, G.A., Nystrom, G.J., Bhatnagar, D., Cleveland, T.E., Woloshuk, C.P., 1993. Cloning of the afl-2 gene involved in aflatoxin biosynthesis from *Aspergillus flavus*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 59, 156–162.
- Peer, W.A., Murphy, A.S., 2007. Flavonoids and auxin transport: modulators or regulators? Trends Plant Sci. 12, 556–563.
- Pelletier, M.K., Burbulis, I.E., Winkel-Shirley, B., 1999. Disruption of specific flavonoid genes enhances the accumulation of flavonoid enzymes and endproducts in Arabidopsis seedlings. Plant Mol. Biol. 40, 45–54.
- Price-Whelan, A., Dietrich, L.E., Newman, D.K., 2006. Rethinking 'secondary' metabolism: physiological roles for phenazine antibiotics. Nat. Chem. Biol. 2, 71–78.
- Price-Whelan, A., Dietrich, L.E., Newman, D.K., 2007. Pyocyanin alters redox homeostasis and carbon flux through central metabolic pathways in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PA14. J. Bacteriol. 189, 6372–6381.
- Pronk, J.T., Yde Steensma, H., Van Dijken, J.P., 1996. Pyruvate metabolism in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Yeast 12, 1607–1633.
- Rau, W., Mitzka-Schnabel, U., 1985. Carotenoid synthesis in Neurospora crassa. Methods Enzymol. 110, 253–267.
- Reyes-Dominguez, Y., Bok, J.W., Berger, H., Shwab, E.K., Basheer, A., Gallmetzer, A., Scazzocchio, C., Keller, N., Strauss, J., 2010. Heterochromatic marks are associated with the repression of secondary metabolism clusters in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Mol Microbiol.
- Rheeder, J.P., Marasas, W.F., Vismer, H.F., 2002. Production of fumonisin analogs by Fusarium species. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 2101–2105.
- Rohlfs, M., Albert, M., Keller, N.P., Kempken, F., 2007. Secondary chemicals protect mould from fungivory. Biol. Lett. 3, 523–525.
- Roytrakul, S., Verpoorte, R., 2007. Role of vacuolar transporter proteins in plant secondary metabolism: *Catharanthus roseus* cell culture. Phytochem. Rev. 6, 383–396.
- Roze, L.V., Beaudry, R.M., Keller, N.P., Linz, J.E., 2004a. Regulation of aflatoxin synthesis by FadA/cAMP/protein kinase A signaling in *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Mycopathologia 158, 219–232.
- Roze, L.V., Miller, M.J., Rarick, M., Mahanti, N., Linz, J.E., 2004b. A novel cAMPresponse element, CRE1, modulates expression of nor-1 in Aspergillus parasiticus. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 27428–27439.
- Roze, L.V., Arthur, A.E., Hong, S.Y., Chanda, A., Linz, J.E., 2007. The initiation and pattern of spread of histone H4 acetylation parallel the order of transcriptional activation of genes in the aflatoxin cluster. Mol. Microbiol. 66, 713–726.
- Roze, L.V., Chanda, A., Beaudry, R.M., Artymovich, K.A., Koptina, A.V., Awad, D., Valeeva, D., Linz, J.E., 2010. Volatalome analysis reveals intra-cellular metabolic changes in *Aspergillus* spp: veA regulates branched chain amino acid and ethanol metabolism. BMC Biochem., submitted for publication.
- Saikia, S., Scott, B., 2009. Functional analysis and subcellular localization of two geranylgeranyl diphosphate synthases from Penicillium paxilli. Mol. Genet. Genom. 282, 257–271.
- Sandeman, R.A., Hynes, M.J., 1989. Isolation of the faca (acetyl-coenzyme-a synthetase) and acue (malate synthase) genes of *Aspergillus nidulans*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 218, 87–92.
- Saunders, J.A., 1979. Investigations of vacuoles isolated from tobacco: I. Quantitation of nicotine. Plant Physiol. 64, 74–78.
- Schroeckh, V., Scherlach, K., Nutzmann, H.W., Shelest, E., Schmidt-Heck, W., Schuemann, J., Martin, K., Hertweck, C., Brakhage, A.A., 2009. Intimate bacterial-fungal interaction triggers biosynthesis of archetypal polyketides in Aspergillus nidulans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106, 14558–14563.
- Sekito, T., Fujiki, Y., Ohsumi, Y., Kakinuma, Y., 2008. Novel families of vacuolar amino acid transporters. IUBMB Life 60, 519–525.
- Sheridan, R., Ratledge, C., Chalk, P.A., 1990. Pathways to acetyl-CoA formation in Candida-Albicans. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 69, 165–169.
- Shimizu, K., Keller, N.P., 2001. Genetic involvement of a cAMP-dependent protein kinase in a G protein signaling pathway regulating morphological and chemical transitions in Aspergillus nidulans. Genetics 157, 591–600.
- Shimizu, K., Hicks, J.K., Huang, T.P., Keller, N.P., 2003. Pka, Ras and RGS protein interactions regulate activity of AflR, a Zn(II)2Cys6 transcription factor in Aspergillus nidulans. Genetics 165, 1095–1104.
- Shwab, E.K., Bok, J.W., Tribus, M., Galehr, J., Graessle, S., Keller, N.P., 2007. Histone deacetylase activity regulates chemical diversity in *Aspergillus*. Eukaryot Cell 6, 1656–1664.
- Silva, J.C., Townsend, C.A., 1997. Heterologous expression, isolation, and characterization of versicolorin B synthase from *Aspergillus parasiticus*. A key enzyme in the aflatoxin B1 biosynthetic pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 804– 813.
- Silva, J.C., Minto, R.E., Barry 3rd, C.E., Holland, K.A., Townsend, C.A., 1996. Isolation and characterization of the versicolorin B synthase gene from *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Expansion of the aflatoxin b1 biosynthetic gene cluster. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 13600–13608.
- Sirikantaramas, S., Taura, F., Tanaka, Y., Ishikawa, Y., Morimoto, S., Shoyama, Y., 2005. Tetrahydrocannabinolic acid synthase, the enzyme controlling marijuana psychoactivity, is secreted into the storage cavity of the glandular trichomes. Plant Cell Physiol. 46, 1578–1582.
- Sirikantaramas, S., Sudo, H., Asano, T., Yamazaki, M., Saito, K., 2007. Transport of camptothecin in hairy roots of *Ophiorrhiza pumila*. Phytochemistry 68, 2881– 2886.
- Sirikantaramas, S., Yamazaki, M., Saito, K., 2008. Mechanisms of resistance to selfproduced toxic secondary metabolites in plants. Phytochem. Rev. 7, 467–477.
- Sprote, P., Brakhage, A.A., Hynes, M.J., 2009. Contribution of peroxisomes to penicillin biosynthesis in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Eukaryot Cell 8, 421–423.

L.V. Roze et al./Fungal Genetics and Biology 48 (2011) 35-48

- Staunton, J., Weissman, K.J., 2001. Polyketide biosynthesis: a millennium review. Nat. Prod. Rep. 18, 380–416.
- Stirrett, K., Denoya, C., Westpheling, J., 2009. Branched-chain amino acid catabolism provides precursors for the Type II polyketide antibiotic, actinorhodin, via pathways that are nutrient dependent. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 36, 129– 137.
- Stora, C., Dvorackova, I., 1987. Aflatoxin, viral hepatitis and primary liver cancer. J. Med. 18, 23–41.
- St-Pierre, B., Vazquez-Flota, F.A., De Luca, V., 1999. Multicellular compartmentation of *Catharanthus roseus* alkaloid biosynthesis predicts intercellular translocation of a pathway intermediate. Plant Cell 11, 887–900.
- Takahashi, H., McCaffery, J.M., Irizarry, R.A., Boeke, J.D., 2006. Nucleocytosolic acetyl-coenzyme A synthetase is required for histone acetylation and global transcription. Mol. Cell 23, 207–217.
- Tanaka, Y., Sasaki, N., Ohmiya, A., 2008. Biosynthesis of plant pigments: anthocyanins, betalains and carotenoids. Plant J. 54, 733–749.
- Teijeira, F., Ullan, R.V., Guerra, S.M., Garcia-Estrada, C., Vaca, I., Martin, J.F., 2008. The transporter CefM involved in translocation of biosynthetic intermediates is essential for cephalosporin production. Biochem. J. 418, 113–124.
- Teter, S.A., Klionsky, D.J., 2000. Transport of proteins to the yeast vacuole: autophagy, cytoplasm-to-vacuole targeting, and role of the vacuole in degradation. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 11, 173–179.
- Thykaer, J., Nielsen, J., 2007. Evidence, through C13-labelling analysis, of phosphoketolase activity in fungi. Process Biochem. 42, 1050–1055.
- Trail, F., Mahanti, N., Linz, J., 1995. Molecular biology of aflatoxin biosynthesis. Microbiology 141 (Pt 4), 755–765.
- Valiante, V., Jain, R., Heinekamp, T., Brakhage, A.A., 2009. The MpkA MAP kinase module regulates cell wall integrity signaling and pyomelanin formation in *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Fungal Genet. Biol. 46, 909–918.
- van de Kamp, M., Driessen, A.J., Konings, W.N., 1999. Compartmentalization and transport in beta-lactam antibiotic biosynthesis by filamentous fungi. Antonie Leeuwenhoek 75, 41–78.
- van der Lende, T.R., van de Kamp, M., Berg, M., Sjollema, K., Bovenberg, R.A., Veenhuis, M., Konings, W.N., Driessen, A.J., 2002. Delta-(L-alpha-Aminoadipyl)-L-cysteinyl-D-valine synthetase, that mediates the first committed step in penicillin biosynthesis, is a cytosolic enzyme. Fungal Genet. Biol. 37, 49–55.
- van Roermund, C.W., Hettema, E.H., van den Berg, M., Tabak, H.F., Wanders, R.J., 1999. Molecular characterization of carnitine-dependent transport of acetyl-CoA from peroxisomes to mitochondria in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and identification of a plasma membrane carnitine transporter, Agp2p. Embo J. 18, 5843–5852.

- Vining, L.C., 1992. Secondary metabolism, inventive evolution and biochemical diversity – a review. Gene 115, 135–140.
- Wang, F.P., Chen, Q.H., Liu, X.Y., 2010. Diterpenoid alkaloids. Nat. Prod. Rep. 27, 529–570.
- Watanabe, C.M., Townsend, C.A., 2002. Initial characterization of a type I fatty acid synthase and polyketide synthase multienzyme complex NorS in the biosynthesis of aflatoxin B(1). Chem. Biol. 9, 981–988.
- Weber, G., Schorgendorfer, K., Schneider-Scherzer, E., Leitner, E., 1994. The peptide synthetase catalyzing cyclosporine production in *Tolypocladium niveum* is encoded by a giant 45.8-kilobase open reading frame. Curr. Genet. 26, 120–125.
- Weid, M., Ziegler, J., Kutchan, T.M., 2004. The roles of latex and the vascular bundle in morphine biosynthesis in the opium poppy, *Papaver somniferum*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 13957–13962.
- Wellen, K.E., Hatzivassiliou, G., Sachdeva, U.M., Bui, T.V., Cross, J.R., Thompson, C.B., 2009. ATP-citrate lyase links cellular metabolism to histone acetylation. Science 324, 1076–1080.
- Whyte, J.R., Munro, S., 2002. Vesicle tethering complexes in membrane traffic. J. Cell Sci. 115, 2627–2637.
- Wichmann, H., Hengst, L., Gallwitz, D., 1992. Endocytosis in yeast: evidence for the involvement of a small GTP-binding protein (Ypt7p). Cell 71, 1131–1142.
- Winkel, B.S., 2004. Metabolic channeling in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 55, 85-107.
- Winkel-Shirley, B., 2001. Flavonoid biosynthesis. A colorful model for genetics, biochemistry, cell biology, and biotechnology. Plant Physiol. 126, 485–493.
- Woloshuk, C.P., Foutz, K.R., Brewer, J.F., Bhatnagar, D., Cleveland, T.E., Payne, G.A., 1994. Molecular characterization of aflR, a regulatory locus for aflatoxin biosynthesis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60, 2408–2414.
- Yabe, K., Nakajima, H., 2004. Enzyme reactions and genes in aflatoxin biosynthesis. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 64, 745–755.
- Zhang, H., Wang, L., Deroles, S., Bennett, R., Davies, K., 2006. New insight into the structures and formation of anthocyanic vacuolar inclusions in flower petals. BMC Plant Biol. 6, 29.
- Zhou, R., Rasooly, R., Linz, J.E., 2000. Isolation and analysis of fluP, a gene associated with hyphal growth and sporulation in *Aspergillus parasiticus*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 264, 514–520.
- Ziegler, J., Facchini, P.J., 2008. Alkaloid biosynthesis: metabolism and trafficking. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59, 735–769.
- Zouhar, J., Hicks, G.R., Raikhel, N.V., 2004. Sorting inhibitors (Sortins): chemical compounds to study vacuolar sorting in Arabidopsis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 9497–9501.